SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 2 5 2016

IN THE

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

BIANKA M.,

Petitioner,

ν.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent;
GLADYS M.,
Real Party in Interest.

AFTER A PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE · CASE NO. B267454

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

IRELL & MANELLA LLP
*Joshua C. Lee (SB# 268606)
jclee@irell.com
David A. Schwarz (SB# 159376)
dschwarz@irell.com
1800 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 900
Los Angeles, CA 90067
Telephone: (310) 277-1010
Facsimile: (310) 203-7199

PUBLIC COUNSEL
Judith London (SB# 149431)
jlondon@publiccounsel.org

Issues Presented

In ruling on a child's request under Code of Civil Procedure section
155 for findings necessary to enable the child to petition the United States
Citizenship and Immigration Services for classification as a Special
Immigrant Juvenile:

- 1. Does a California court improperly usurp the authority of the federal government by denying the child's request based on a conclusion that the proceeding in which the request is made is not "bona fide"?
- 2. May a California family court deny the child's request on the ground that the parentage of the child's non-custodial alleged parent has not been adjudicated?

- 1 -

Introduction

For over a quarter century, it has been the federal government's policy to provide humanitarian relief in the form of Special Immigrant Juvenile Status ("SIJS") to abandoned, abused and neglected children born abroad. Section 155 of the Code of Civil Procedure ("section 155") implements the important but limited role of California courts in effectuating this policy by making certain factual findings ("SIJS findings") the federal government requires to determine whether or not to exercise its discretion to grant a child's petition for SIJS. Reflecting the California Legislature's commitment to facilitating access to SIJS for eligible children, section 155 gives the State's courts both jurisdiction and an obligation to make SIJS findings when supported by the evidence.

SIJS is intended to provide relief for children like Bianka.

Abandoned by her alleged father before birth, Bianka left Honduras in

August 2013 when she was ten years old to escape rampant gang violence
and reunite with her mother in the United States. Immigration authorities
detained Bianka when she crossed the border and placed her in a shelter in

Texas, later releasing Bianka to her mother Gladys, who had previously
come to California to better provide for her daughter. Bianka now lives in
a safe, stable family environment that unquestionably promotes her health,
safety and welfare, in stark contrast to the situation she left behind in

9193259 - 2 -

Honduras. Yet, because she lacks legal status, Bianka remains in jeopardy of deportation.

SIJS is one of the few realistic paths to legal status available to Bianka. She pursued that path as the law required her to do, bringing an action in the Los Angeles Superior Court ("Family Court") in which she requested SIJS findings. As part of these proceedings, Bianka sought an order from the Family Court placing her in her mother's custody. The court was empowered to make this custody order at any point in the proceeding because Bianka demonstrated that it would serve her best interests. Both federal immigration policy and state family law make the child's best interests central to the court's determination. SIJS aims not only to prevent deportation of a child who has suffered abandonment, abuse or neglect, but also to ensure the child will be cared for in this country if SIJS is granted. Thus, a court must find that the child has been placed in the custody of a court-appointed individual. The order Bianka requested would enable this SIJS finding.

The Family Court denied Bianka's request for a custody order and SIJS findings. The court concluded it could not issue the requisite custody order (and therefore could not make the needed SIJS findings) unless Bianka first joined her alleged father as a necessary party, and established personal jurisdiction over him. Only in this way, the Family Court believed, could it protect Bianka's alleged father's due process rights as a

9193259 - 3 -

parent and ensure that there was a "justiciable controversy" – in short, a fight over custody – for it to resolve.

Bianka sought writ review from the Court of Appeal. The Court of Appeal denied the writ. (*Bianka M. v. Superior Court* (2016) 245

Cal.App.4th 406 ("*Bianka M.*").) The court noted that Bianka's request for a custody order was uncontested and that "her mother has had no difficulty obtaining health care, education or anything else." (*Id.* at pp. 427-428.)

From this, the Court of Appeal surmised that Bianka's parentage action "appears to have been brought only to obtain SIJ findings" and therefore "was not a bona fide custody proceeding under the UPA." (*Ibid.*) Having decided her parentage action was a pretext to obtain SIJS findings, the court concluded the "findings will not be useful to Bianka" because the federal government would view her petition for SIJS as not "bona fide" and deny it. (*Ibid.*) Thus the cost to Bianka of seeking SIJS findings was the inability to obtain them.

Going further, the Court of Appeal approved the Family Court's refusal to place Bianka in her mother's custody, despite Bianka's best interests, or to make the SIJS findings Bianka requested and supported with evidence, until it adjudicated her alleged father's paternity. (*Bianka M.*, *supra*, 245 Cal.App.4th at pp. 427-428.) This meant Bianka would "not only need to join [her alleged father] to the action but must also establish a basis for personal jurisdiction over him." (*Id.* at pp. 430-431.) Because the

9193259 - 4 -

Family Court lacked, and could not compulsorily obtain, personal jurisdiction over Bianka's alleged father, this condition effectively ended Bianka's chances of obtaining a custody order or SIJS findings (and therefore SIJS).

The Court of Appeal erred in two fundamental ways. First, by refusing SIJS findings on the assumption that the federal government would not accept them, the court disabled Bianka from even requesting, let alone obtaining SIJS. The Court of Appeal thereby supplanted the federal government as the sole and final arbiter of whether to grant or deny SIJS to a child. Moreover, by denying SIJS findings to children who "appear" to have brought a state court proceeding for the purpose of obtaining those findings, when that is what the law requires, the Court of Appeal sacrificed the ends of SIJS to the means of obtaining it. This decision upset the careful balance created by the federal SIJ statute between state courts' authority over matters affecting child welfare and the federal government's prerogative to control immigration. And it contradicted prior holdings by the Court of Appeal. If affirmed, the decision also would isolate California among a growing body of decisions from other states admonishing their courts to stick to a limited fact-finding role under the SIJ statute and leave immigration policy to the federal government.

Second, the Court of Appeal's insistence on litigating Bianka's alleged father's paternity, necessitating his voluntary submission to the

9193259 - 5 -

Family Court's jurisdiction, interposed an insurmountable obstacle to a custody order that is both demonstrably in Bianka's best interests and prerequisite to SIJS findings. Here, too, the Court of Appeal's decision departed from those of other panels which found no legal basis for conditioning SIJS findings on establishing an alleged father's paternity. If allowed to stand, the court's decision would deny SIJS to an entire class of eligible children, like Bianka, who were abandoned by a parent residing abroad.

For these reasons, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal and remand with directions to order the trial court to make the SIJS findings and related custody order Bianka requested.

Statement of the Case

A. SIJS Carefully Allocates Federal and State Responsibility in a Framework Designed to Protect Children Who Suffered Abandonment, Abuse or Neglect.

"Congress created [SIJS] classification to protect abused, neglected, and abandoned unaccompanied minors through a process that allows them to become permanent legal residents." (*In re Y.M.* (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 892, 915, citation omitted.) "[T]he purpose of SIJ status [is] to 'protect the applicant from further abuse or maltreatment by preventing him or her from being returned to a place where he or she is likely to suffer further abuse or neglect." (*In re Israel O.* (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 279, 291 ("*Israel O.*"),

9193259 - 6 -

quoting Marcelina M.-G. v. Israel S. (N.Y.App.Div. 2013) 973 N.Y.S.2d 714, 723-724.)

Discretion to grant or deny SIJS to a child is reserved exclusively to the federal government through USCIS. (Eddie E. v. Superior Court (2015) 234 Cal. App. 4th 319, 326 [Fourth Dist., Div. Three] ("Eddie E. II") ["[T]he federal government has exclusive jurisdiction with respect to immigration. ..., including the final determination whether an alien child will be granted permanent status as [an] SIJ."], citations omitted.) State courts, however, "play an important and indispensable role in the SIJ application process." (Leslie H. v. Superior Court (2014) 224 Cal. App. 4th 340, 348 ("Leslie H."), quoting In re Mario S. (N.Y. Fam. Ct. 2012) 38 Misc.3d 444, 451 [954] N.Y.S.2d 843] ("Mario S.").) They "are charged with making a preliminary determination of the child's dependency and his or her best interests, which is a prerequisite to an application to adjust status as a special immigrant juvenile." (Leslie H., supra, 224 Cal. App. 4th at p. 348, citation omitted.) In conjunction with this preliminary determination, state courts make three SIJS findings that enable a child to petition USCIS for SIJS. (*Id.* at p. 348, citations omitted.)

The SIJS findings needed to petition the federal government for SIJS are that (1) the child is "dependent" upon a juvenile court or "committed"

9193259 - 7 -

¹ A "juvenile court" is any U.S. court "having jurisdiction under state law to make judicial determinations about the custody and care of

to, or placed under the custody of" the State or other court-appointed individual or entity; (2) the child cannot be reunified with one or both parents "due to abuse, neglect, abandonment, or a similar basis found under State law," and (3) it is not in the child's "best interest" to be "returned" to her country of origin. (*Leslie H.*, *supra*, 224 Cal.App.4th at p. 349, citing 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(27)(J); see also Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (b)(1).)

A state court's decision to make SIJS findings in no way guarantees that the federal government will grant a child's request for SIJS. (*See Marcelina*, *supra*, 112 A.D.3d at p. 113 [SIJS findings "do not bestow any immigration status on SIJS applicants."].) Conversely, a state court's *refusal* to make SIJS findings guarantees that the federal government will *not* grant a child's request for SIJS. (*Ibid*.)

Section 155 reflects the California Legislature's determination that "it is in the best interest of the child for a superior court to issue the SIJS factual findings if requested and supported by evidence." (Sen. Rules Comm., Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses, Rep. on Assem. Bill No. 1603 (2015-2016 Reg. Sess.) Jun. 16, 2016 ("Senate Floor Analysis"), p. 6.) A court "has the authority *and duty* to make [SIJS] findings" pursuant to section 155 where these conditions are met. (*B.F. v. Superior Court* (2012) 207

9193259 - 8 -

juveniles" (8 C.F.R. § 204.11(a)), and "includes, but is not limited to, the juvenile, probate, and family court divisions of the superior court." (Code Civ. Proc. § 155, subd. (a)(1).)

Cal.App.4th 621, 630 ("*B.F.*"), emphasis added; see also Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (b)(1).)

B. Bianka is a Special Immigrant Juvenile.

Bianka was abandoned by her father in Honduras before she was born. (See Dkt. No. 3, Petitioner's Appendix of Exhibits, Vol. 1 ("1 AE") 2-3; 1 AE 9.)² Her alleged father refused to provide Bianka with any support. (*Id.*, Vol. 2 ("2 AE") 2-337:4, 2 AE 342:3-19.) He said he would rather Bianka die than provide her with money for milk. (2 AE 336:14-16.) He mocked Bianka's poverty and hunger by giving her mother Gladys fish heads when she begged him for food, and taunted her with the whole fish he was saving for himself. (2 AE 342:6-16.)

Bianka's childhood was punctuated by violence. While out riding her bicycle, Bianka saw a group of men being held up at gun point, then heard gunshots as she passed them. (1 AE 9, ¶ 5.) Armed men burst into Bianka's school during class and robbed her teacher at gunpoint in front of Bianka and her fellow elementary school students. (*Ibid.*) Bianka's experiences are emblematic of endemic violence in Honduras and demonstrate the importance of SIJS. (See, e.g., United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, Children on the Run (Mar. 2016) p. 10

9193259 - 9 -

² "Dkt. No." refers to sequential entries in the Court of Appeal docket for *Bianka M.*, *supra*, 245 Cal.App.4th 406.

threatened with or were victims of violence by organized armed criminal actors" and "[t]wenty-four percent of the children reported abuse in the home."].)

Unable to provide for Bianka in Honduras – and receiving no support from Bianka's alleged father – Bianka's mother Gladys traveled to the United States to find work. (1 AE 3, ¶ 6.) Bianka remained in Honduras with her older sister. (Id. ¶¶ 6-7.) After arriving in California, Gladys called Bianka every week and sent her clothing, shoes, school supplies, and money. (1 AE 9, \P 4.) Despite the remittances from Gladys, however, Bianka's older sister struggled to provide for Bianka because she had her own children to care for. (1 AE 10, ¶ 8.) Eventually she no longer could do both. (Ibid.) Faced with the prospect of homelessness in a country plagued by violence, Bianka fled to the United States. (1 AE 9, ¶ 6.) After being detained by federal immigration authorities, Bianka was reunited with her mother. (*Ibid.*) Bianka feels safe now, living in a stable family environment with her mother and two siblings and attending Carver Middle School. (1 AE 10, \P 7.)

C. Bianka Did Everything the Law Required of Her to Obtain a Custody Order and SIJS Findings.

In 2014, Bianka initiated a parentage action in Los Angeles County Superior Court (the "Family Court"). (1 AE 11.) She filed a request for order ("RFO") placing her under her mother's sole legal and physical

9193259 - 10 -

custody and making SIJS findings. (1 AE 105.) A custody order has intrinsic value to Bianka in ensuring a stable home situation that protects her health, safety and welfare. It is also a prerequisite to a SIJS finding that a child has been "[l]egally committed to, or placed under the custody of... an individual or entity appointed by the court." (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (b)(1)(A)(ii).) As such, a request for SIJS findings "may be filed in any proceeding under the Family Code in which a party is requesting sole physical custody of the child who is the subject of the requested findings" and may be made "[a]t the same time as, or any time after, a [RFO] requesting sole physical custody of the child." (See California Rules of Court, rule 5.130(b)(2)(B).) Bianka's mother wants custody of Bianka and did not oppose the RFO. (1 AE 4, ¶¶ 10, 12-13.)

Although section 155 allows Bianka to request SIJS findings in any division of the Superior Court, in practice, one-parent SIJS cases like hers can only proceed in family court. A family court action is the only kind of proceeding Bianka can initiate on her own and in which her mother can serve as "an individual ... appointed by the court" to take custody of Bianka, supporting the first SIJS finding. (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (b)(1)(A)(ii).) Probate proceedings will not work because Bianka resides with her mother, who is ineligible for appointment as her guardian. (Prob. Code, §§ 1514, subd. (b)(1)-(2) & 1600, subd. (a).) Dependency proceedings are also unavailable to Bianka because her mother provides her

9193259 - 11 -

with a loving and safe home. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 300.) Juvenile delinquency proceedings would require Bianka to engage in some misconduct (*id.*, § 601), an unreasonable requirement since Bianka has no intention (and no history) of misbehaving. Further, only the State can initiate dependency or juvenile delinquency proceedings – Bianka has no right to do so herself. (Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 325, 650.) Nevertheless, "the prerequisites for SIJS findings are the same across superior court divisions." (Senate Floor Analysis, p. 6.)

The Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act ("UCCJEA") provides a California court "the exclusive jurisdictional basis for making a child custody determination." (Fam. Code, § 3421, subd. (b).) In general, the UCCJEA permits the court to make an initial child custody determination if, as in Bianka's case, California "is the home state of the child on the date of the commencement of the proceeding" (*id.*, subd. (a)(1)), and the order is in the child's best interest. (*Id.*, §§ 3011, 3021, subd. (f), 3022; accord *In re Marriage of Burgess* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 25, 31.) The court's primary concern in making a custody determination is the child's health, safety, and welfare. (Fam. Code, § 3020, subd. (a).)

"Physical presence of, or personal jurisdiction over, a party or a child is not necessary or sufficient to make a child custody determination." (Fam. Code, § 3421, subd. (c).) Bianka need only provide notice of the

9193259 - 12 -

proceeding to any alleged, natural, or presumed parent³ and an opportunity to be heard, in accordance with California law. (Fam. Code, § 7635.)

Notice to a parent residing in Honduras, like Bianka's alleged father, may be accomplished "by personal delivery of a copy of the summons and of the complaint" (Civ. Code, §§ 413.10, 415.10), at least 10 days before the proceeding. (Fam. Code, §§ 3408, subd. (a), 7635, subd. (b), 7666, subd. (a).)⁴ Assuming these criteria are met, the court may "during the pendency of a proceeding or at any time thereafter, make an order for the custody of a child during minority that seems necessary or proper." (*Id.*, § 3022.)

Bianka satisfied each of the prerequisites to obtain the custody order she sought. Her home state is California. (See 1 AE 13; see also 1 AE 7.) She provided notice of the proceeding to both her mother – the proposed custodial parent – (1 AE 121), and her alleged father, who was personally served on May 28, 2015. (1 AE 125.) Bianka also served her alleged father with the same documents – the parentage petition, summons, RFO and all supporting documents – by mail on June 2, 2015. (1 AE 126.)⁵

9193259 - 13 -

³ The distinctions between these categories are discussed in more detail below. (See Legal Discussion § II.B.)

⁴ Honduras is not a signatory to the Hague Service Convention, as the Court of Appeal acknowledged. (*Bianka M.*, 245 Cal.App.4th at p. 436.) As a result, service may be executed by means authorized under California law.

⁵ In addition, Bianka's attorney called her alleged father on April 27, 2015 and notified him of the date, time, and location of the July 14, 2015 hearing on Bianka's RFO. (1 AE 116, ¶ 2.)

And Bianka made "a sufficient factual showing" that an award of sole custody to her mother is in her best interest. (2 AE 362:9-15.)

Bianka also satisfied every requirement under section 155 to obtain SIJS findings. The Family Court had jurisdiction to make those findings (all divisions of the Superior Court do). (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (a).) Bianka supported each SIJS finding with uncontroverted evidence, including (among other things) her own declaration (1 AE 109), which section 155 makes expressly sufficient to sustain the findings (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (b)(1)).

The custody order Bianka requested – and the Family Court should have made – would "[l]egally commit[] [her] to, or place[] [her] under the custody of ... an individual or entity appointed by the court," satisfying the first SIJS findings. (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (b)(1)(A)(ii).)

The uncontroverted evidence that Bianka's alleged father abandoned her before birth (1 AE 2-3, \P 4), never had a relationship with her (1 AE 9, \P 3), and does not want a relationship now (1 AE 100, \P 2; 1 AE 116, \P 2), demonstrated that reunification was "not ... viable because of abuse, neglect, [or] abandonment," satisfying the second SIJS finding. (Code Civ. Proc., \S 155, subd. (b)(1)(B).)

The Family Court's own finding that "both the overall level of violence in her city and the lack of available relatives to care for her, is untenable, and supports a finding that it would not be in the best interest[]

9193259 - 14 -

of [Bianka] to be returned" to Honduras (2 AE 311, original emphasis) supports the third SIJS finding that "it is not in the best interest of [Bianka] to be returned to" Honduras. (Code Civ. Proc., § 155, subd. (b)(1)(C).)

In light of the foregoing facts, the Family Court should have granted Bianka's RFO. Instead, the court denied the RFO on the grounds that due process and the apparent lack of a "justiciable controversy" prevented it from making the requested custody order or SIJS findings without first adjudicating Bianka's alleged father's paternity. (2 AE 305.) Bianka petitioned for writ review.

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