SUPREME COURT COPY

S233757

IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA



SUPREME COURT
FILED

FEB 15 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

BIANKA M.,

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent;

GLADYS M.,

Real Party in Interest.

AFTER A PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL
FOR THE SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE
CASE No. B267454

BRIEF OF *AMICUS CURIAE* AT THE REQUEST OF THE
CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT

BARNES & THORNBURG LLP
*L. RACHEL LERMAN (SBN 193080)
JOSEPH WAHL (SBN 281920)
2029 CENTURY PARK EAST, STE 300
LOS ANGELES, CA 90067-2904
TELEPHONE: (310) 284-3880
FACSIMILE: (310) 284-3894

ATTORNEYS FOR *AMICUS CURIAE*

S233757

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether a Superior Court may deny a child's request for Special Immigrant Juvenile ("SIJ") classification findings on the ground that the request was not made during a bona fide child welfare proceeding.

2. Whether a Superior Court may deny a child's request for SIJ classification findings on the ground that parentage of the child's alleged, noncustodial father has not been adjudicated, when the alleged father fails to respond after receiving all of the due process the law requires.

a. Whether joinder of, and/or personal jurisdiction over, the child's alleged father are necessary preconditions to making the SIJ status finding that her father abandoned her.

b. Whether it is appropriate for a Superior Court to ask a child seeking SIJ status findings to seek a stipulation of parentage from the alleged father she claims abandoned her.

INTRODUCTION

This case requires this Court to rule on issues of first impression concerning the role of California juvenile courts in making the findings that an undocumented minor must obtain before she can apply to the federal government (specifically, the United States Customs and Immigration Service, or "USCIS") for SIJ classification under the federal Immigration and Nationality Act ("INA").

Originally enacted in 1990, the SIJ statute has been amended several times over the years. Most recently, in 2008, the statute was amended to clarify that it applies to children for

whom “reunification with one or both ... parents is not viable due to abuse, neglect, abandonment, or a similar basis found under State law.” (8 U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(27)(J).)¹

Under the current version of the statute, children like Bianka M. (“Bianka”), who are able to reunite with a single parent living in the United States, may apply to the federal government for SIJ classification if they obtain findings from a state juvenile court that: (1) the child is “dependent on a juvenile court located in the United States or whom such a court has legally committed to, or placed under the custody of, an agency or department of a State, or an individual or entity appointed by a State or juvenile court located in the United States”; (2) “reunification with 1 or both” parents is “not viable due to abuse, neglect, abandonment, or a similar basis found under State law”; and (3) “it would not be in the alien’s best interest to be returned to the alien’s or parent’s previous country of nationality or country of last habitual residence.” (*Id.*)

Bianka left Honduras by herself at the age of 10, and traveled to California to rejoin her mother, Gladys, who left Honduras herself in 2005. As Bianka and her mother testified, Bianka cannot go back to Honduras to live with her biological father, Jorge, because he abandoned Gladys (the mother of his

¹ Originally, the statute required that a child seeking SIJ classification be “deemed eligible for long-term foster care.” The language “deemed eligible for long-term foster care” was defined through regulation to mean that a court made a determination that family reunification is not a viable option. (See 8 CFR § 204.11(a)(1993).)

four children) while she was pregnant with Bianka, and declared he would rather see Bianka dead than be obliged to support her. Jorge never married Gladys, so he is classified by California law as Bianka's "alleged" father, giving him limited due process rights. (*In re Zacharia D.* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 435, 449; Dkt. No. 3, Petitioner's Appendix of Exhibits ("AE") 303.)

Specifically, as an alleged father, Jorge is entitled to notice and an opportunity to be heard with respect to Bianka's petition to be placed in Gladys' sole custody. (*Id.*) Should he wish to be heard, he may seek to obtain "presumed" father status under California law. (See Fam. Code, § 7611 [outside of marriage, a presumed father is one who takes the child into his home and holds her out as his own].) Unless Jorge seeks and obtains presumed father status, his due process and parental rights extend no further.

Both of the lower courts were concerned that a parent might use the SIJ statute to kidnap a child from the custody of a parent living in another country. Noting these concerns, the Superior Court ruled that it could not grant Bianka's request for an order placing her in her mother's sole custody, or make a finding that Jorge abandoned her, without first determining Jorge's paternity in a proceeding to which Jorge was joined as a party.

The Court of Appeal granted writ review and affirmed the Superior Court based on its conclusions that (1) Bianka's custody petition was not bona fide, but based solely on her desire to obtain the findings needed to apply for SIJ status; and (2) "a

request for sole legal and physical custody in a parentage action necessarily requires a court to consider the parentage of both parents,” so the Superior Court did not abuse its discretion in requiring Bianka to join Jorge, who received inadequate notice in this case. The Court of Appeal recognized that it could be difficult for Bianka to establish personal jurisdiction over Jorge, and suggested that Bianka might obtain a stipulation of parentage from him.

As discussed in Bianka’s opening brief on the merits and in this brief, *infra*, the Court of Appeal’s first conclusion is mistaken. Federal authorities, and now California Code of Procedure Section 155, which the Legislature clarified after the Court of Appeal’s decision in this case was filed, provide that the question of whether an application for SIJ classification is made pursuant to a bona fide state court proceeding is one for the federal authorities, not the state courts, to address and decide.

The Court of Appeal’s second conclusion is correct in part and mistaken in part. First, it appears that the notice Jorge received in this case was inadequate, as the Court ruled. California’s custody and parentage statutes do not specify whether Jorge is entitled to notice that Bianka seeks a finding he abandoned her, but California dependency law strongly suggests that he is. California Rules of Court further suggest that Jorge is entitled to receive notice in Spanish, if he cannot read or understand English. Once notice has been corrected, however, there is no need for Bianka to join Jorge or demonstrate that he is subject to personal jurisdiction, as the Court further ruled.

The due process protections already in place under California law ensure that California custody proceedings are not used to deprive a presumptive parent of custody or parental rights. Indeed, the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (the “UCCJEA”), codified in the California Family Code at §§ 3400 et seq., was drafted in part to protect against kidnapping of a child by one of her parents.

The UCCJEA requires that “all persons entitled to notice under the law of this state as in child custody proceedings between residents of this state” receive notice and an opportunity to be heard. (Fam. Code, § 3425.) The Uniform Parentage Act, codified in the California Family Code at §§ 7600 et seq., provides that “notice of [a parentage] proceeding shall be given to every person identified as the biological father or a possible biological father[.]” (Fam. Code, § 7666.) Upon receiving notice, an alleged father may exercise his right to be heard and seek to obtain presumed father status.

In keeping with these statutes, the California courts of appeal have consistently held, until now, that “[t]he requirements of due process of law are met in a child custody proceeding when, in a court having subject matter jurisdiction over the dispute [under the UCCJEA], the out-of-state parent is given notice and an opportunity to be heard.” (*In re Marriage of Torres* (2002) 62 Cal.App.4th 1367, 1378 (“*Torres*”), citing *In re Marriage of Leonard* (1981) 122 Cal.App.3d 443, 459 (“*Leonard*”); see also *In re A.S.*, (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 351, 362 [holding that a court “does not err by terminating a biological father’s parental rights

when he has had the opportunity to show presumed father status and has not done so.”].)

Once Jorge receives proper notice, it is up to him to respond in a timely fashion. If he does not, California law entitles him to nothing more. The same is true if he comes forward but cannot establish presumed father status.

In either of these circumstances, amicus submits that the Superior Court may and should proceed to adjudicate Bianka’s custody case and make the SIJ classification findings set forth in 8 U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(27)(J).

STATUTORY BACKGROUND

A. The SIJ Provision

Congress enacted the SIJ provision of the INA in 1990 to protect undocumented minor immigrants who were eligible for long-term foster care. Congress has amended the statute several times over the years, most recently in 2008. While the SIJ statute is federal law, and was enacted based on federal authority over immigration matters, it relies on state juvenile courts to determine several underlying issues of fact.²

² The SIJ statute originated as a narrow solution to a child welfare problem noted by California advocates. (See S. Daugherty, *Special Immigrant Juvenile Status* (2015) 80 Brook. L. Rev. 1087, 1092.) The statute provided children eligible for long-term foster care with the opportunity for a green card, federal benefits, and legitimate employment. (*Id.*) It incidentally benefited the State because federal benefits “decreased reliance on wholly state-funded services provided to undocumented immigrants.” (J. Baum et al., *Most in Need But Least Served*:

The 1990 version of the statute extended to undocumented immigrant children who were eligible for long-term foster care because their parents were unavailable to provide for them. (8 U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(27)(J) (1990).)

In 1997, Congress amended the law to specify that an immigrant child applicant be deemed eligible for long-term foster care *due to abuse, neglect, or abandonment* (Pub. L. 105-119, 111 Stat. 2460 (1997)), a concept that was implied but not expressly stated in the original version of the statute.

In 2005, Congress added a provision relevant to SIJ classification proceedings in conjunction with the 2005 Reauthorization of the Violence Against Women Act (“VAWA 2005”). (Dep’t of Justice Reauthorization Act of 2005, Pub. L. No. 109-162, § 826, 119 Stat. 2960, 3065-66, Rule 12.4(a), (c), (e), pp. 116-117.) The new provision protects abused children by barring government officials from making personal contact, or compelling immigrant minor applicants to make personal contact, with the parent who allegedly abused or abandoned them. (8 U.S.C. § 1357(h) [providing that a child seeking SIJ classification “shall not be compelled to contact the alleged abuser”]; see M. Fitzpatrick and L. Orloff, *Abused, Abandoned, or Neglected: Legal*

Legal and Practical Barriers to Special Immigrant Juvenile Status for Federally Detained Minors (2012) 50 Fam Ct. Rev. 621, 623, cited in Daugherty, *supra*.)

Options for Recent Immigrant Women and Girls (2016) 4 Penn St. J.L. & Int'l Aff. 614, 628.)³

In 2008, Congress amended the SIJ statute again, this time pursuant to the William Wilberforce Trafficking Victims Protection Reauthorization Act (“TVPRA”) of 2008. (Pub. L. 110-457, § 235, 122 Stat. 5044.) Under the 2008 version of the statute, which is the law today, state courts must find that “reunification with 1 or both of the immigrant’s parents is not viable due to abuse, neglect, abandonment, or a similar basis found under State law.” (8 U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(27)(J).)

B. California Parentage and Custody Statutes

1. The Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act

The UCCJEA is a revised form of the UCCJA, which was amended and renamed in 1997. (*In re A.C.* (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 854, 860 [noting that cases interpreting the UCCJA are instructive in deciding cases under the UCCJEA except where there is a conflict between the two statutory schemes]; see also Jurisdiction and Litigation Choices, Cal. Prac. Guide Family L. Ch. 7-A [“The UCCJA and UCCJEA are similar but not

³ See 146 Cong. Rec. H9046 (2000), at 126, H.R. Rep. No. 109-233 (2000) (explaining that “Congress created special protections for victims of domestic violence against disclosure of information to their abusers and the use of information provided by abusers ... to ensure that immigration enforcement agents and government officials covered by this section do not initiate contact with abusers, call abusers as witnesses or relying on information furnished by or derived from abusers to apprehend, detain and attempt to remove victims[.]”).

identical. Notably, the UCCJEA eliminates inconsistencies with the preemptive [Federal Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act] ...; strengthens the jurisdictional standards, thus removing the incentive under prior law to move children out of state for the purpose of relitigating custody/visitation disputes; and establishes uniform methods for enforcing custody and visitation orders.”].) The UCCJEA has been adopted by nearly every state in the nation and is codified in the California Family Code at §§ 3400 et seq.

The purpose of the UCCJEA is “to avoid jurisdictional competition between states or countries, promote interstate cooperation, avoid relitigation of another state’s or country’s custody decisions and facilitate enforcement of another state’s or country’s custody decrees.” (*Schneer v. Llaurado* (2015) 242 Cal.App.4th 1276, 1287 (citation omitted); see also *In re Marriage of Nurie* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 478, 496-497 (“*Nurie*”) [UCCJEA also serves to deter parental kidnapping].)

The UCCJEA is the “exclusive method of determining subject matter jurisdiction in custody disputes involving other jurisdictions[,]” including foreign jurisdictions. (*In re Karla C.* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 1236, 1268 (quoting *In re Marriage of Sareen* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 371, 376).

A California court has subject matter jurisdiction when, as here, California is the “home state” of the child at the start of the proceeding. (*Ibid.*, citing Fam. Code, § 3421, subd. (a)(1).)

The UCCJEA applies to any “child custody proceeding,” which the Act defines to include proceedings “for ... the

termination of parental rights” and for “protection from domestic violence.” (Fam. Code, § 3402, subd. (d); see also *In re Marriage of Fernandez-Abin* (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1015, 1037-1038.)

2. The Uniform Parentage Act

The Uniform Parentage Act governs determinations of parentage. (*Jason P. v. Danielle S.* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 167, 174, citing *K.M. v. E.G.* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 130, 138; see *id.* [the Act “provides a comprehensive scheme for judicial determination of paternity, and was intended to rationalize procedure, to eliminate constitutional infirmities in then existing state law, and to improve state systems of support enforcement”], citation and quotations omitted.)

Under the Uniform Parentage Act, a woman may establish parentage “by proof of her having given birth to the child, or under this part.” (Fam. Code, § 7610, subd. (a).) A man who is married to the mother at the time of birth is presumed to be the child’s father. (Fam. Code, § 7611.) A man who is not married to the child’s mother is not presumed to be the child’s father unless he marries or attempts to marry her after the birth and/or “receives the child into his or her home and openly holds out the child as his or her natural child.” (*Id.*, subd. (d).)

The Section 7611 paternity presumptions reflect “the state’s interest in the welfare of the child and the integrity of the family,” rather than the interests of the alleged or biological father. (*In re Jesusa V.* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 588, 611, citation and quotations omitted.) “The statutory purpose [of section 7611] is to distinguish between those fathers who have entered into some

familial relationship with the mother and child and those who have not.” (*Jason P.*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at pp. 177, quoting *In re T.R.* (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1202, 1209.) “The paternity presumptions are driven by state interest in preserving the integrity of the family and legitimate concern for the welfare of the child. The state has an ‘interest in preserving and protecting the developed parent-child ... relationships which give young children social and emotional strength and stability.” (*Id.*, quoting *In re Nicholas H.* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 56, 65.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. **Bianka’s Petition to Be Placed in Her Mother’s Sole Custody and Her Request for SIJ Classification Findings**

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